STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE SUPREME COURT

\_\_\_\_\_  
Certiorari to Supreme Court County

Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge  
\_\_\_\_\_

ISAAC STARKE,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-002284  
\_\_\_\_\_

BRIEF OF PETITIONER  
\_\_\_\_\_

DAVID ALEXANDER  
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ORIGINAL  
RECEIVED  
APR 01 2016  
S.C. SUPREME COURT

**

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether petitioner's guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary because plea counsel, who was operating under a conflict of interest, told petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty and would not take his case to trial?

## STATEMENT

On March 11, 2013, an Aiken County grand jury indicted petitioner for four counts of third degree CSC with a minor and one count of second degree CSC with a minor. App. 3, l. 5 – 4, l. 8. App. 193. On May 13, petitioner pled guilty to one count of second degree CSC with a minor and one count of third degree CSC with a minor before the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III. App. 1. Ashley Agnew Hammack represented the State. App. 1. George A. Anderson represented petitioner. App. 1. Judge Early deferred sentencing until May 15, 2013, and sentenced petitioner to concurrent terms of fifteen years' imprisonment on both charges. App. 30, l. 5 – 31, l. 22. Petitioner did not appeal.

On April 7, 2014, petitioner filed a PCR application. App. 33. On September 20, 2016, a hearing was held before the Honorable Robert E. Hood. App. 61. J. Falkner Wilkes represented petitioner. App. 61. Julie A. Coleman represented the State. App. 61. On November 7, 2016, Judge Hood denied petitioner's application. App. 180. On May 2, 2018, this Court granted certiorari and this brief of petitioner follows.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

The standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before the Court. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). The Court defers to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Id. The Court reviews questions of law without deference to trial courts. Id. See also Smalls v. State, 422 S.C. 174, 810 S.E.2d 836, 839–40 (2018).

## ARGUMENT

Petitioner's guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary because plea counsel, who was operating under a conflict of interest, told petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty and would not take his case to trial.

### *Introduction*

The petition for certiorari in this case was filed approximately one month before this Court decided Mangal v. State, 421 S.C. 85, 805 S.E.2d 568 (2017) (opinion originally filed July 19, 2017). The pre-Mangal petition for certiorari asked this Court to revisit its holding in Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266 (2007) which addressed Rule 59(e) motions and the all-too-common failure of PCR orders not addressing all claims presented. Mangal largely reaffirmed this Court's decision in Marlar. After Mangal, petitioner acknowledges that a significant question exists regarding whether this Court can reach the merits of the issue presented. However, unlike Mangal, the issue presented here was the subject of significant testimony at the PCR hearing and exhibits presented by petitioner. Mangal also realized that where a substantial claim is presented, courts must be flexible in excusing procedural default. See Mangal at 99-100, 805 S.E.2d at 575-76. Petitioner Isaac Starke's Sixth Amendment claim—that his lawyer operated under a conflict of interest—is one of these substantial claims that, in the interests of justice, require excusal of any procedural default.

## Factual and Procedural Background

The State charged petitioner with molesting his daughter. App. 3, l. 3 – 4, l. 23. The solicitor claimed that petitioner’s wife was never investigated, much less charged, but stated that she “was extremely non-cooperative with law enforcement” and “refused to meet with the solicitor’s office or talk with us at any point.” App. 138, l. 14 – 140, l. 5. It seems likely that petitioner’s wife knew about the alleged abuse before it was reported to law enforcement. App. 28, ll. 14 – 20. At the guilty plea, plea counsel told Judge Early:

This is a very religious-oriented family and when these circumstances arose and became known to the family, there were some persons who tried to rectify some things moving this man out of the marital home and into a secondary place to try to sort of keep things together and there are several people here. One would like to speak from the church.

App. 28, ll. 14 – 20. Petitioner was in jail almost two hundred days before his plea. App. 16, ll. 8 – 14. A psychologist who allegedly evaluated petitioner for competency told Judge Early that he and plea counsel “didn’t feel like it was appropriate to release him on bail. . . .” App. 20, ll. 19 – 20.

This testimony at the plea hearing corroborates petitioner’s testimony at the PCR hearing about the family’s reaction to the abuse allegations. App. 116, l. 5 -117, l. 16. Appellant testified, “It was completely settled five months earlier with that pastor back there. I moved across town and stayed out of the home five months and she’s the one that asked me to move back home.” App. 116, ll. 5 – 17. Appellant stated that he bought a travel trailer and lived across the street from his house. App. 116, ll. 18 – 24. He would only go to his house when his daughter was not home. App. 116, l. 18 – 117, l. 1. Appellant testified that his attorney “wouldn’t let me come to court because **they said they’d put my wife in prison for just as long**

because my wife told me at the end, ‘Why don’t you just have sex with her.’ I said, ‘Are you crazy. I love my daughter.’” App. 116, ll. 5 – 17 (emphasis added).

Plea counsel admitted that he represented both appellant and his wife at the same time. App. 157, ll. 10 – 12. He represented petitioner on the criminal charges and a DSS action concerning the children and claimed he only represented the wife in the DSS action. App. 157, ll. 10 – 24. Plea counsel testified no conflict of interest existed because petitioner and his wife’s goals were aligned. App. 157, ll. 10 – 24.

Plea counsel had known petitioner’s family “for decades.” App. 16, ll. 2 – 7. Petitioner’s mother, who plea counsel described as “a very well-known lady” in Aiken County contacted him to represent her son and he was ultimately retained. App. 151, l. 14 – 152, l. 24. Plea counsel had petitioner evaluated by a psychologist, Dr. Joe Holt (“Holt”). App. 154, ll. 4 – 8. App. 18, l. 16 – 23, l. 17. The daughter’s guardian ad litem sent a letter to the court indicating that Dr. Holt was treating petitioner’s daughter and wife in “joint therapy sessions” **before** petitioner’s guilty plea. App. 176-77. PCR counsel moved the GAL’s letter into evidence at the PCR hearing. App. 90, l. 11 – 91, l. 9.

Amazingly, plea counsel testified at the PCR hearing that he told petitioner he would only represent him if he pled guilty. App. 152, ll. 9 – 24. Plea counsel said:

And of course he was accused of sexually molesting the girl over a period of a couple of years. And, the essence of those discussions were that once the Defendant had admitted that—the circumstances and the facts. **I said, “Well, fine. We’re headed to let the Court know that. In other words, offer a plea to the Court that I’ll represent you. If you want me to try this case before a jury based upon the information you’ve already given me, I will not participate in that. I don’t handle those kinds of cases on a trial basis.”**

**Q. Did you discuss any defenses with the Applicant?**

**A. No.**

App. 152, l. 13 – 153, l. 2 (emphasis added).

At the plea hearing, petitioner hesitated when Judge Early asked him if he was guilty. App. 13, ll. 8 – 16. He told the court, “I didn’t stick my finger in her vagina, Your Honor.”<sup>1</sup> App. 13, ll. 15 – 16. Digital penetration was the basis of the second-degree CSC charge. App. 12, l. 23 – 13, l. 6. After conferring with plea counsel, petitioner then said he was guilty. App. 13, l. 17 – 15, l. 12.

Plea counsel had no independent recollection of what he said to petitioner during this discussion. App. 159, ll. 6 – 22. He guessed he told petitioner that, “If you’re offering a plea and you’re guilty of the charges, then you need to indicate that to the judge.” App. 159, ll. 20 – 22. Petitioner testified that he was led to believe he would receive a four-year sentence and plea counsel urged him during this discussion, “Get your deal. Get your deal. Get your four-year deal. Remember your deal.” App. 163, l. 10 – 164, l. 2. Plea counsel denied leading petitioner to believe he would receive a four-year sentence. App. 158, ll. 5 – 22.

Petitioner is severely mentally ill. App. 19, l. 21 – 22, l. 17. He has bipolar disorder and the psychologist told the plea judge he had been in a psychotic state. App. 19, l. 21 – 22, l. 17. Petitioner’s testimony at the PCR hearing is rambling and chaotic and Judge Hood repeatedly had to calm him down so that the court reporter could take his testimony. App. 10, l. 11 – 71, l. 23. Even the solicitor noted petitioner’s strange behavior at the PCR hearing, telling the court,

---

<sup>1</sup> Petitioner also testified at the PCR hearing that police officers refused his multiple requests for counsel before they took his recorded statement, telling them that if he had money he could call a lawyer and that if he was a man of faith, he would confess. App. 64, l. 2 – 97, l. 22. Petitioner told plea counsel about the refusal to honor his request for counsel and plea counsel told him, “That don’t mean nothing. Only thing they’re going to do is go back and re-arrest you. That don’t mean nothing. You’re a child molester.” App. 98, ll. 1 – 9.

“[Petitioner] acted extremely different from his demeanor today, both in the—from his tone of voice in the recording with his interview with law enforcement but also at the plea.” App. 137, ll. 14 – 19. Jail records indicate petitioner was taking Risperdal and Zoloft at the time of his plea. App. 169. Despite petitioner’s limitations, he testified at the PCR hearing that he did not want to plead guilty because he did not digitally penetrate his daughter and wanted a new trial. App. 100, l. 7 – 105, l. 16. When told he could face greater punishment, petitioner said, “That’s just a risk I got to take.” App. 105, ll. 11 – 12.

### **Issue Preservation and *Mangal***

The conflict of interest issue in petitioner's case is not the subject of a separate, specific heading in the "Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law" section of the PCR court's Order, but it is discussed within the factual summary. App. 181-191. This Findings and Conclusions section of the Order contains four headings: (1) Ineffective Assistance of Counsel, (2) Involuntary Guilty Plea, (3) Brady Violation, and (4) All Other Allegations. App. 186-191. The first section, "Ineffective Assistance of Counsel," begins, "Applicant alleges Counsel was ineffective in his advice surrounding his guilty plea." App. 186. After setting forth broad statements of law and citations, the PCR court stated that petitioner "failed to meet his burden in proving Plea Counsel was ineffective in any regard." App. 187. The court also found that "Plea Counsel properly relayed the State's plea negotiations and went over the discovery with Applicant, as well as fully explained the possible outcomes in sentencing." App. 187. The second section, "Involuntary Guilty Plea," discusses whether "Plea Counsel misled him as to the sentence he would receive in exchange for his guilty plea." App. 188. The PCR court found "very credible" plea counsel's "testimony that he advised Applicant of all facts and risks of pleading guilty, including the potential length of his sentence. App. 189. The third section discusses an alleged Brady violation related to the guardian ad litem's letter. App. 189-191.

None of these sections make any findings or conclusions regarding plea counsel's conflict of interest. The conflict issue is discussed in the PCR court's "Summary of Relevant Testimony Presented." App. 181-85. In its summary of petitioner's testimony, the court wrote:

Applicant testified that Plea Counsel was supportive of him at first, but then he told him that he was a child molester and he could not take him to open court because he was guilty. He stated that Plea Counsel told him that his wife would be arrested and his daughter would be taken away from him if he did not pay Plea Counsel money. Applicant testified that Plea Counsel represented him and

his wife simultaneously on their criminal charges and in their DSS case in the Family Court **and that this was clearly a conflict of interest.**

App. 182 (emphasis added). The court discussed the GAL letter. App. 183. The court noted the solicitor's testimony that petitioner's wife was never charged. App. 184. In its summary of plea counsel's testimony, the PCR court wrote:

Plea Counsel testified that he represented Applicant and his wife in Family Court, **but it did not create any conflict of interest** because they were both aligned in their goals at that time. He stated that he never represented Applicant's wife on criminal charges.

App. 185 (emphasis added). Petitioner did not file a motion asking the PCR court to make a specific legal ruling pursuant to Rule 59(e), SCRCP.

In Mangal, the PCR court's order did not address an issue related to improper bolstering in a child sexual abuse case. Mangal at 90-91, 805 S.E.2d at 570-71. PCR counsel filed a Rule 59(e) motion asking the court to address it, but the PCR court refused. Id. The PCR court ruled the ground was not presented in the application, an amendment, or through testimony. Id.

The Court of Appeals ruled that the PCR court erred in not ruling on the improper bolstering issue because it was presented to the PCR court. Id. at 91-92, 805 S.E.2d at 571. This Court reversed and upheld the PCR court's refusal to rule on the issue and applied an abuse of discretion standard of review. Id. at 92-96, 805 S.E.2d at 571-73.

The Mangal Court reviewed the PCR court's decision that the issue had not been properly presented. Id. The issue was whether Mangal had presented the improper bolstering issue to the extent that the PCR judge improperly refused to rule on it. Id. Here, the PCR judge never refused to rule on the issue presented because PCR counsel did not file a Rule 59(e) motion. The PCR judge in Mangal was given the chance to reach the merits, but found it procedurally barred.

This Court looked at several stages of the case to determine whether the PCR judge properly refused to rule on the improper bolstering issue. Id. First, the Court noted that the PCR application did not mention improper bolstering and no amendment was filed. Id. Petitioner here concedes that his PCR application does not mention the conflict of interest issue. App. 35.

The Mangal Court then looked to see whether counsel mentioned the improper bolstering issue at the beginning of the hearing or in argument at the end of the hearing. Mangal at 92-93, 805 S.E.2d at 571-72. The Court found no mention of additional claims at the onset of the hearing and found the argument at the end of the case insufficient for lack of specificity. Id. The Court also found that when Mangal questioned trial counsel about improper bolstering, he failed to inform the PCR court he was making a legal claim of ineffective assistance on this ground. Id. Here, PCR counsel made no opening argument nor any closing argument. App. 65, l. 8 – 66, l. 23. App, 164, ll. 19 – 20.

The Mangal Court finally looked to the presentation of the evidence at the PCR hearing to determine whether the issue had been fairly presented and concluded that it had not. Mangal at 93, 805 S.E.2d at 572. The presentation during the hearing consisted only of three points, one of which PCR counsel conceded was a proper question to the expert. Id.

On this point—the presentation of evidence during the hearing—petitioner’s case differs from Mangal. Substantial evidence was presented about the conflict of interest. At the very beginning of the substance of Starke’s testimony, he explained that plea counsel could not allow him to go to trial, his wife would go to prison, and his daughter would go to “reformatory” unless he paid \$7,500.00; \$5,500.00; and \$3,500.00 to represent all of them simultaneously. App. 69, l. 16 – 70, l. 10. Starke said plea counsel “represented all three of us at the same time and then he told me I had a deal.” App. 70, ll. 11 – 14.

Judge Hood then told Starke to slow down for the benefit of the court reporter. App. 70, l. 15 – 71, l. 15. The court told him to take a deep breath, get a drink of water and then reminded him that he was “talking about Mr. Anderson’s representation and that he ended up representing you, and your wife, and your daughter.” App. 71, ll. 12 – 19. PCR counsel then marked and introduced his first exhibit that was an unsigned consent order from the DSS action asking the family court to relieve plea counsel as the attorney for both Starke and his wife. App. 72, l. 2 – 74, l. 2. App. 167. PCR counsel asked whether plea counsel was meeting with both Starke and his wife during this period. App. 74, l. 4 – 75, l. 7. Starke again testified that plea counsel represented all of them simultaneously and that the judge asked, ““Don’t you think this is a conflict of interest.”” App. 74, l. 24 – 75, l. 7. PCR counsel asked Starke when the simultaneous representation began and Starke’s answer indicated it began immediately and plea counsel told him he had to represent his wife or else she would go to prison. App. 75, l. 19 – 76, l. 6. Starke then testified that his attorney told him that ““Child molesters don’t get to go to court. You have to just go to prison,”” and told him he needed to tell the judge he was guilty and that he was sorry. App. 77, ll. 2 – 9.

Starke then testified about the involvement of Dr. Holt. App. 77, l. 10 – 80, l. 21. Plea counsel and Dr. Holt told Starke that they had met with the prosecution and negotiated a four-year plea deal.<sup>2</sup> App. 77, l. 10 – 80, l. 21. The testimony then moved into the plea hearing and Starke’s mental health. App. 80, l. 22 – 86, l. 13. Starke again got off track, Judge Hood calmed him down, and PCR counsel resumed his examination by introducing ““billing statements Mr. Anderson sent you for representing Ms. Starke and yourself.”” App. 87, l. 1 – 89, l. 4. App. 170-75. The billing statements are addressed to Beverly Starke and petitioner. App. 170-75. The

---

<sup>2</sup> The solicitor confirmed she met with plea counsel and Dr. Holt. App. 133, ll. 6 – 9.

bills contain entries that demonstrate that Beverly Starke was also plea counsel's client. App. 170-75. An entry on August 8, 2013, shows correspondent to the plural "clients." App. 171. An entry on June 3, 2013, shows correspondence "To client (B. Starke)." App. 172. Starke testified again about plea counsel's simultaneous representation. App. 87, l. 18 – 88, l. 22.

After a short break, PCR counsel introduced the GAL letter. App. 90, l. 3 – 91, l. 6. PCR counsel's questions are directed toward whether Starke ever saw the GAL letter and whether he would have pled guilty had he seen it. App. 91, l. 3 – 93, l. 6. After discussing the circumstances surrounding petitioner's statement to the police and plea counsel telling him that its admissibility did not matter because "all they would do is re-arrest" him, PCR counsel asked a question attempting to sum up the examination. App. 93, l. 19 – 98, l. 25. The final part of PCR counsel's question was, "and you talked about the conflict between Mr. Anderson's representation of you, your wife, and maybe your children in the DSS matter and criminal matters. Is there any issue that I have missed or overlooked?" App. 98, ll. 20 – 25. Near the end of the direct-examination, PCR counsel described the billing statements from plea counsel as "the documents that I introduced and I actually introduced some of the receipts to show that he represented both of you." App. 110, l. 25 – 111, l. 3. Starke replied, "Absolutely. Conflict of interest." App. 111, l. 4.

The State called the solicitor to testify about whether a four-year plea deal was offered and she denied any such deal existed. App. 131, l. 19 – 138, l. 5. At the end of the solicitor's direct-examination, the State asked two questions related to the conflict of interest issue. App. 139, l. 19 – 140, l. 5. The State first confirmed that petitioner's wife was not investigated. App. 139, ll. 19 – 24. The State then asked, "So do you know if trial counsel, George Anderson, was representing both the Defendant and his wife in any cases involved with this charge?" App. 139,

l. 25 – 140, l. 3. The solicitor replied, “There was no capacity for him to represent the Defendant’s wife because she had no charges.” App. 140, ll. 4 – 5. The State then ended its examination of the solicitor. App. 140, l. 6. PCR counsel then asked whether the solicitor was aware of plea counsel representing Starke and his wife in family court and she answered no. App. 140, ll. 11 – 14.

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