STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

RECEIVED

NOV 30 2018

CERTIORARI TO AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Post-Conviction Relief Court Judge  
The Honorable Doyet A. Early, III, Plea Judge

---

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-002284

---

ISAAC STARKE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Respondent.

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100108

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**

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

## ARGUMENT

- I. **Petitioner's assertions that his guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary based on a purported conflict of interest because plea counsel also represented his wife in a family court action and therefore would not represent him unless he pled guilty is not preserved for this Court's review, does not warrant a remand for the post-conviction relief court to address, and lacks merit.**

For the first time on appeal, Petitioner argues his guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary based on a purported conflict of interest because plea counsel also represented his wife in a family court action and therefore would only represent him if he pled guilty. However, Petitioner never raised this issue in his post-conviction relief application, which was filed with the assistance of retained counsel. Petitioner never amended his application to include this allegation. Petitioner never asked the post-conviction relief court to consider or otherwise rule on this issue before, during, or after the hearing, and accordingly, the post-conviction relief court did not rule on this unrepresented issue. Moreover, after the court's order of dismissal was entered, Petitioner never filed any motions asking the court to rule on this unrepresented issue. Based on Petitioner's complete failure to ever raise this issue to the court below, this issue is patently unrepresented for this Court's review.

Petitioner readily admits the glaring preservation concerns, noting "petitioner acknowledges that a significant question exists regarding whether this Court can reach the merits of the issue presented." (BOP 4). Despite this acknowledgment, Petitioner begs this Court to excuse his procedural default in the interest of justice and remand this matter back to the post-conviction relief court for a ruling on this unrepresented issue because some testimony centered on this issue. Petitioner readily admits he is not forever foreclosed from relief on this issue should this Court find this issue unrepresented, as he will still be able to have a federal court consider the claim if he chooses to pursue the claim in a subsequent federal habeas corpus action. This Court

should reject Petitioner's invitation to ignore longstanding preservation principles and excuse his neglect in failing to present this issue to the post-conviction relief court by remanding the case back to the post-conviction relief court for a ruling on this unrepresented issue because this is not a rare case requiring such action.

Moreover, regardless of any preservation concerns, Petitioner has failed to establish that there is any merit to this unrepresented claim, as no conflict of interest existed and certainly did not induce Petitioner's guilty plea. Petitioner's guilty plea was knowingly and voluntarily entered with the advice of competent counsel. Petitioner has not established any constitutional deprivations that warrant this Court vacating his guilty plea and remanding the matter back to the court of general sessions.

- A. Petitioner's assertions that his guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary based on a purported conflict of interest because plea counsel also represented his wife in a family court action and therefore would only represent him if he pled guilty is not preserved for this Court's review where Petitioner did not raise this issue in his application or at any time prior to the hearing, did not raise this issue as an allegation at the hearing, the post-conviction relief court did not rule upon the unrepresented issue, and Petitioner did not file any motions asking the court to rule on this unrepresented issue.**

As an initial matter, Petitioner's assertions that his guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary based on a conflict of interest with counsel was never raised to the post-conviction relief court and is only being raised not for the first time on appeal. Accordingly, it is not preserved for this Court's review.

In South Carolina, issue preservation requirements are a fundamental component of appellate procedure. Gaddy v. Douglass, 359 S.C. 329, 350, 597 S.E.2d 12, 23 (Ct. App. 2004). Significantly, the application of issue preservation requirements ensures the trial court has an opportunity "to rule properly after it considered all relevant facts, law, and arguments." I'On,

L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 422, 526 S.E.2d 716, 724 (2000). In order for an issue to properly be preserved for appellate review, the issue must be: (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court; (2) raised by the appellant; (3) raised in a timely manner; and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity. State v. Rogers, 361 S.C. 178, 183, 603 S.E.2d 910, 912-913 (Ct. App. 2004); see JEAN HOËFER TOAL ET AL., APPELLATE PRACTICE IN SOUTH CAROLINA 57 (2nd ed. 2002) (identifying the four requirements that must be met in order for an issue to be properly preserved for appellate review).

The same preservation requirements apply in post-conviction relief actions. Marlar v. State, 375 S.C. 407, 410, 653 S.E.2d 266, 267 (2007); Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 256, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992). The failure of the post-conviction relief court to specifically rule on an issue ordinarily precludes appellate review of the issue. Id. Although our courts have recognized the somewhat relaxed procedures in post-conviction relief cases and will excuse procedural defaults in extraordinary cases, “[i]n most PCR cases, however, [appellate courts] have refused to excuse the pleading and issue-preservation requirements that apply in all civil cases.” Mangal, 421 S.C. at 97, 805 S.E.2d at 574.

In Mangal, this Court recently addressed procedural defaults in the post-conviction relief context. In Mangal, this Court reversed the decision of the South Carolina Court of Appeals and reinstated the post-conviction relief court’s order denying post-conviction relief where there was some testimony presented at the evidentiary hearing on a specific issue, but the issue was never raised to the court. In reaching this decision, this Court relied on the fact that Mangal never mentioned the issue in his post-conviction relief application, made no amendment to his application raising the issue, his post-conviction relief counsel did not make an oral amendment at the evidentiary hearing to add the issue as a claim for relief, and he did not specifically make

the claim at the hearing even when testimony on the issue arose. Unlike the present case, Mangal's attorney made a brief mention of the issue in his closing argument at the evidentiary hearing, and later filed a Rule 59(e), SCRCP, motion to reconsider, alter or amend, asking the court to address the issue. This Court ruled the post-conviction relief court properly refused to rule on the issue, as it was never raised and no testimonial evidence was presented in support of the allegation. This Court held the post-conviction relief court could not be expected to recognize the claim based only on brief and broad mentions of it in closing argument. *Id.* at 92–93, 805 S.E.2d at 572. (“To the extent PCR counsel’s brief statement constitutes a claim for ineffective assistance of counsel, we find a PCR judge would have difficulty recognizing it.”) This Court noted:

[T]here are situations where the interests of justice require PCR courts to be flexible with procedural requirements before PCR applicants suffer procedural default on substantial claims. Such flexibility is consistent with the purpose and spirit of our Rules of Civil Procedure. These considerations should guide PCR courts when struggling to balance procedural requirements against the importance of the issues at stake in PCR proceedings. We encourage trial courts in PCR cases to use the discretion we grant them on procedural matters to find reasonable ways—within the flexibility of our Rules—to reach the merits of substantial issues.

Mangal, 421 S.C. at 99–100, 805 S.E.2d at 575–76.

In the present case, like Mangal, this Court should similarly determine Petitioner failed to properly preserve this issue for appellate review. Petitioner, who was represented by retained counsel<sup>1</sup> through the entirety of this action before the circuit court (including when his

---

<sup>1</sup> Respondent notes that Petitioner’s application was drafted and filed by retained counsel to highlight to this Court that Petitioner, unlike the vast majority of post-conviction relief applicants, did not draft his application as a *pro se* litigant without any legal training, but rather, with the assistance of competent and trained legal counsel who presumably reviewed the record and selected the issues he deemed to be the most meritorious. In Mangal, this Court made specific mention that “Mangal filed his PCR application **without** the assistance of counsel. Mangal, 421 S.C. at 89, 805 S.E.2d at 570 (emphasis added).”

application was filed), never raised this issue to the post-conviction relief court either in his application or in any amendments. Petitioner never moved to amend his application to conform to the evidence presented pursuant to Rule 15(b), SCRCP, or otherwise indicated he wished for the court to rule on this unrepresented issue. Petitioner never presented argument on this unrepresented issue. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief court properly did not rule on the issue because it was never presented to the court as an allegation upon which Petitioner was seeking relief. Moreover, Petitioner did not file any motions seeking the court to rule on this unrepresented issue after the order was signed and filed. Accordingly, this issue is patently not preserved for this Court's review.

**B. This Court should reject Petitioner's invitation to ignore longstanding preservation principles and excuse his neglect in failing to present this issue to the post-conviction relief court by remanding the case back to the post-conviction relief court for a ruling on this unrepresented issue.**

Petitioner acknowledges that he did not raise this issue to the post-conviction relief court, that the court accordingly did not rule on this unrepresented issue, and that he did not file any motions or otherwise request to the court to rule on this unrepresented issue. He nevertheless argues he is entitled to a remand back to the circuit court for a ruling on this unrepresented issue "in the interest of justice" merely because some portion of the testimony over the hearing that spanned two days covered this issue. However, this is not one of the "rare cases" discussed in Mangal that requires this Court to excuse the apparent procedural default and this Court should reject Petitioner's invitation to ignore a procedural default of his own making.

In Petitioner's case, as is often the case in the vast majority of post-conviction relief proceedings, testimony was taken on a wide range of topics beyond those allegations specifically enumerated in the application. Petitioner, like most applicants, used his time on the witness stand to air his grievances on a wide variety of subjects, ranging from counsel's performance, to the

solicitor's conduct, to the qualifications of the mental health expert his attorney had retained. In response to this testimony, counsel for both Petitioner and the State questioned witnesses on many of these unrepresented and ancillary topics as the testimony developed throughout the hearing to create a full record. However, at the conclusion of all testimony, Petitioner did not move to conform his testimony to the evidence presented pursuant to Rule 15, SCRCP, present an argument regarding this unrepresented issue, or otherwise indicate in any manner to Respondent or to the court that he wished to proceed forward on this unrepresented issue. Accordingly, the post-conviction relief court did not rule on this unrepresented issue.

Despite failing to raise this issue at any point before, during, or after the evidentiary hearing, and despite failing asking the court to rule on this issue, Petitioner now asserts he is entitled to a remand and ruling on this issue "in the interest of justice." However, Petitioner fails to explain how this case is one of those "rare" few that requires this Court to excuse procedural default other than noting that some testimony taken on the issue. As discussed previously, it is quite common that testimony is taken on a wide-range of topics and issues that are not enumerated in an application for post-conviction relief. Simply put, the circumstances of Petitioner's case are routine, not rare. If Petitioner wanted to raise this issue to the post-conviction relief court, he merely needed to put the court, and Respondent, on notice so that the issue could properly and fully be developed for a ruling.

By advocating for a remand for the court to rule on the merits of an issue that he recognizes he never raised to the post-conviction relief court, Petitioner is advocating for this Court to adopt an approach where post-conviction relief applicants are relieved from their duty to raise their claims to the circuit court and leaves Respondent and the post-conviction relief court to wade through the testimony presented at any evidentiary hearing, shift through what potential

unpresented issues might have any scintilla of arguable merit, and then construct an order to address all of these unpresented issues properly. This is quite simply unreasonable and relieves Petitioner of his duty to present his claims to the court.

In support of his argument for excusal of procedural default and remand, Petitioner cites to cases where the orders issued by the post-conviction relief court failed to address properly raised issues and this Court remanded for a ruling on those issues. (BOP 17-18, citing Pruitt v. State, 310 S.C. 254, 256, 423 S.E.2d 127, 128 (1992); Marlar, 375 S.C. 407, 653 S.E.2d 266, Mangal, 421 S.C. 85, 805 S.E.2d 568). Respondent notes this is an issue of renewed importance to this Court in light of the recent order in Robin Reese v. State, Appellate Case No. 2017-001110 (S.C. filed Oct. 18, 2018) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 42 at 9). Respondent recognizes and agrees that it is absolutely vital for all orders to fully and accurately cover all issues raised to the post-conviction relief court when entrusted by the court to draft proposed orders. However, these scenarios are quite different than the one presently before this Court—here, Petitioner **never** raised or otherwise put the court or Respondent on notice that this issue was being raised as a ground for relief. Therefore, this is not the case of Respondent drafting and the post-conviction relief court adopting a defunct order as Petitioner tries to assert, but rather, a situation where the unaddressed issue is one of Respondent's making by failing to ever present this issue to the court.

While Petitioner insists his failure to raise this issue to the lower court should entitle him to a remand for further evidentiary hearings, he presents no valid reason why his case is extraordinary enough to excuse his procedural mistakes. Petitioner was given the opportunity to raise and fully argue every issue he deemed meritorious at the evidentiary hearing. There is no reason to allow him a second bite at the apple to bring up a new issue that would have been

addressed at the hearing if it were truly meritorious. Here, as in Mangal, there is simply no extraordinary reason to excuse this procedural default, and the issue clearly is not preserved for appeal.

**C. Regardless of preservation concerns, Petitioner failed to establish he is entitled to relief where his plea was knowing and voluntary and counsel's performance was not constitutionally ineffective.**

Even assuming this issue were preserved for appeal, it clearly is not meritorious. Petitioner asserts his guilty plea was unknowing and involuntary because plea counsel was operating under a conflict of interest based on his joint representation of Petitioner's wife in a family court action, which led counsel to inform Petitioner that he would only represent Petitioner if he pled guilty. However, the post-conviction court properly found Petitioner's plea was entered knowingly and intelligently and that Petitioner failed to establish any constitutionally ineffectiveness of counsel.

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